## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

PEGGY CAIN, AN INDIVIDUAL; JEFFREY CAIN,	
AN INDIVIDUAL; AND HELI OPS INTERNATIONAL,	Electronically Filed
LLC, AN OREGON LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY,	Nov 30 2016 02:06 p.m.
	Elizabeth A. Brown
Appellants,	Clerk of Supreme Court
VS.	No. 69333
RICHARD PRICE, AN INDIVIDUAL; AND MICKEY	
SHACKELFORD, AN INDIVIDUAL,	
Respondents.	
PEGGY CAIN, AN INDIVIDUAL; JEFFREY CAIN,	
AN INDIVIDUAL; AND HELI OPS INTERNATIONAL,	
LLC, AN OREGON LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY,	
Appellants,	N. (0000
VS.	No. 69889
DICHARD PRICE AN INDIVIDUAL. AND MICKEY	
RICHARD PRICE, AN INDIVIDUAL; AND MICKEY	
SHACKELFORD, AN INDIVIDUAL,	
Respondents.

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

These are consolidated appeals from a summary judgment and post-judgement orders. The judgment is appealable under NRAP 3A(b)(1) [final judgment]. The orders awarding attorneys' fees are appealable under NRAP 3A(b)(8) [special orders after final judgment]. Appellants also appealed an order granting a motion to quash subpoenas and for sanctions, entered on February 10, 2015, as a special order after final judgment.

Dates establishing timeliness of the appeal are as follows:

Notice of entry of the summary judgment order, entered on November 5, 2015, was served by mail on November 9, 2015. 7 A.App. 1610. A timely notice of appeal was filed on December 9, 2015. 6 A.App. 1340.

Notice of entry of the Order Granting Attorneys' Fees, entered on February 5, 2016, was served by mail on February 10, 2016. 7 A.App. 1459. A timely amended/supplemental notice of appeal was filed on February 25, 2016. 7 A.App. 1498.

Notice of entry of the order quashing subpoenas and for sanctions, entered on February 10, 2016, was served on February 16, 2016, by mail. 7 A.App. 1484. This order was included in the amended/supplemental notice of appeal filed on February 25, 2016. 7 A.App. 1499.

Notice of entry of the order granting attorneys' fees as a sanction, entered on July 1, 2016, was served on July 5, 2016. 7 A.App. 1592. A timely supplemental notice of appeal was filed on July 18, 2016. 7 A.App. 1599.

#### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

These are consolidated appeals arising out of extremely unusual and complex commercial transactions. The appeal includes issues of first impression and issues of statewide public policy, which would be presumptively retained by the supreme court. NRAP 17(a)(14).

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Whether the district court erred when it granted judgment on the pleadings and summary judgment in favor of Price and Shackelford (and denied the Cains' cross-motion) based on a release clause in a Settlement Agreement.
  - 2. Whether the district court erred by awarding attorneys' fees.
- 3. Whether the district court erred by denying the Cains' motion to compel tax returns and financial information relating to misallocation of the proceeds and the claim for punitive damages.
- 4. Whether the district court erred by ruling that it would try the issues of personal jurisdiction and alter ego prior to the jury trial.
- 5. Whether the district court erred by granting the motion to quash subpoenas and awarding sanctions.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Cains filed their complaint for breach of contract, fraud and civil conspiracy on September 14, 2011, against seven defendants. 1 A.App. 1. After the district court denied various motions attacking the complaint (1 A.App. 45-52; 2 A.App. 262-75), the Cains filed amended complaints. 2 A.App. 276; 4 A.App. 757. The Third Amended Complaint is the operative complaint for purposes of this appeal. It included multiple claims. 4 A.App. 757. The Cains eventually obtained default judgments against several defendants and a settlement with another defendant, leaving respondents Richard Price and Mickey Shackelford as the only remaining defendants. 2 A.App. 293-96; 5 A.App. 1138-39.

Price and Shackelford obtained an order granting summary judgment on November 5, 2015. 5 A.App. 1150. They also obtained an order awarding attorneys' fees and an order awarding sanctions. 6 A.App. 1444; 7 A.App. 1585-89. These appeals followed.

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

#### Facts relating to the underlying transaction

Peggy and Jeffrey Cain are residents of Douglas County, Nevada, and they are the owners of Heli Ops International, which has its principal place of business in Douglas County. 1 A.App. 165:26-166:1-3. In 2009, the Cains were considering the purchase of another helicopter company for \$20,000,000. 1 A.App. 166:4-5.

The Cains talked to their accountant, Dan Witt, regarding potential investments to generate funds for the purchase, and Witt referred the Cains to a business consultant and loan broker, Kerry Rucker. 1 A.App. 166:5-8. Rucker informed the Cains of a program being offered through a company called C4 WorldWide (C4) for the purchase of Collateralized Mortgage Obligations (CMOs). CMOs are essentially financial interests that were selling at low prices due to the financial crisis at that time. 5 A.App. 1038:19-21.

Witt and Rucker researched C4's web site and printed materials regarding C4, its principals, and the CMO investment program. 1 A.App. 174:5-18. This information included resumes of C4's officers and directors, which portrayed them as leaders in industry and finance. 1 A.App. 174:9-10. Witt and Rucker also reviewed a memorandum regarding C4's CMO program, which claimed that a \$1,000,000 investment in the program would return \$20,000,000 and a substantial monthly interest dividend. 1 A.App. 191:8-12.

Witt and Rucker also personally met with C4's Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Rawson, in November 2009. 1 A.App. 174:11-12. An individual named John Hayner also attended this meeting on behalf of C4; he represented himself as an attorney, although he was not admitted to practice law. 1 A.App. 174:12-14. At the meeting, Rawson stated that members of C4 operated as a team; that he had the full support and involvement of all board members; and that the board members and C4

were experienced in this type of investment. 1 A.App. 191:16-18. He explained the investment in great detail, indicating that the CMOs had been devalued to the point that a \$1,000,000 investment could purchase CMOs with a face value of \$1,000,000,000 (\$1 billion), and the CMOs could then be sold and/or leveraged to generate cash and dividends. 1 A.App. 191:18-23.

Witt and Rucker forwarded the information to the Cains, and the Cains continued to investigate C4's CMO program. 1 A.App. 166:15-22. Their investigation included reviewing information on C4's website regarding C4, its principals, and the CMO program. *Id.* The Cains would never have invested in C4's CMO program if Rawson had been promoting the program by himself. 1 A.App. 167:5-6. Instead, the Cains were led to believe that C4 was comprised of individuals who were very respected, successful and established in their various industries; that they were experienced in the type of financial investments they were promoting; and that they were all actively engaged in the program. 1 A.App. 167:7-10.

Relying upon the information the Cains had received from C4 and its principals, the Cains decided to go forward with the C4 investment program. Several things occurred on November 29, 2009. First, C4's officers and directors adopted a corporate resolution authorizing Rawson and Jeffrey Edwards to open a brokerage

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> One of the principals in C4 later admitted to Rucker that C4's members had no experience with the investment they were promoting. 1 A.App. 192:1-2.

account and to purchase and sell securities. 1 A.App. 180:24-26. Also, C4 adopted a resolution to proceed with a joint venture agreement with the Cains, confirming that the Cains were promised a return of \$20,000,000. 1 A.App. 181:1-4.

Also on that date, Jeffrey Cain executed a Joint Venture Agreement (JVA) on behalf of Heli Ops. 5 A.App. 1053, 1058. Rawson signed the JVA as the CEO of C4. 5 A.App. 1058. As part of the JVA, Heli Ops was to loan \$1,000,000 to C4, for the purchase of CMOs that would be resold or leveraged. 5 A.App. 1053-54. Initially, C4 would have a 51 percent ownership interest in the CMOs, and Heli Ops would own the remaining 49 percent. 5 A.App. 1054. In exchange for \$1,000,000 from Heli Ops, C4 gave Heli Ops a promissory note, which was attached to the JVA, requiring C4 to pay Heli Ops \$20,000,000 within 30 days. 5 A.App. 1054, 1061-62. The JVA and the promissory note were executed concurrently on November 29, 2009. *Id.* The documents provided that once the \$20,000,000 was paid by C4 to Heli Ops, the CMOs would be owned solely by C4. 5 A.App. 1054.

On November 30, 2009, the Cains fulfilled their part of the agreement on behalf of their business, Heli Ops, and they wire transferred \$1,000,000 to C4's bank account. 5 A.App. 1074-75. C4 and its officers and directors began improperly diverting the loan proceeds the very next day. 5 A.App. 1078-81. Then, three days after obtaining \$1,000,000 from the Cains, C4 committed a nearly identical fraud when it entered into a second JVA with another company, New Hope Capital

Foundation, on terms very similar to (actually, more favorable than) the Heli Ops agreement, and with New Hope providing a second \$1,000,000 loan to C4. 5 A.App. 1038; 27-1039:2, 1084-89. The two JVAs were completely incompatible, because C4 promised each joint venture partner the first returns from the CMOs, and C4 secured both loans with the same CMOs. *Id.* There is no evidence that C4 ever informed the Cains of the New Hope JVA.

With \$2,000,000 from Heli Ops and New Hope, C4 eventually purchased only approximately \$986,000 worth of CMOs through a brokerage account; C4 and its officers and directors diverted the remaining \$1,014,000. 5 A.App. 1039, 1102-09, 1111-15. Respondent Price, in particular, knew about both JVAs, and he was personally responsible for executing the wire transfers and withdrawals that diverted the funds. 5 A.App. 1111-15.

The bulk of the money withdrawn from C4's account was paid to the individual C4 principals or their family members. 1 A.App. 182:9-14. Within one month of receiving Heli Op's \$1,000,000, C4 had given nearly \$500,000 to its principals. 1 A.App. 182:15-16.

In the meantime, within days after obtaining the Cains' \$1,000,000, C4 began giving false excuses to the Cains regarding the purchase of the CMOs. On December 8, 2009, Rawson sent a letter blaming the trader/broker for a failure to obtain CMOs,

and Rawson promised that "today/tomorrow" CMOs would be purchased for \$1,000,000. 1 A.App. 182:18-24.

C4 never paid the Cains the \$20,000,000 that was due upon expiration of the 30-day deadline; nor did C4 repay any of the original \$1,000,000 loan. 1 A.App. 168:21-22, 169:8.

#### Facts relating to the settlement

When C4 failed to pay any money to the Cains, the parties attempted to resolve their differences. On February 28 and March 1, 2010, they signed a Settlement Agreement and Release of All Claims (Settlement Agreement). 5 A.App. 1119-22. The Settlement Agreement recited that it was entered into between Peggy Cain, Jeffrey Cain, Heli Ops, Rawson and C4.<sup>2</sup> 5 A.App. 1119. Although the first paragraph of the Settlement Agreement recited the fact that Rawson was "Chairman/CEO" of C4, his signature block did not indicate that he signed it in any representative capacity. It merely stated: "DR Rawson." 5 A.App. 1122. Nor did Rawson write anything on the signature line suggesting that he was signing as C4's representative or in any capacity other than as an individual. *Id.* The district court subsequently found that Rawson signed the Settlement Agreement "in his individual capacity." 5 A.App. 1165:14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> It is noteworthy that the Settlement Agreement did not identify the names of any officers or directors of C4, other than Rawson.

The Settlement Agreement was riddled with typographical and grammatical errors. 5 A.App. 1119-20. After some initial "Whereas" clauses, the Settlement Agreement contained a section entitled "Consideration." 5 A.App. 1119. The first paragraph in this section stated:

and the other terms set forth herein, C4 WorldWide stipulates that it owes the Cains Twenty Million USD (\$20,000,000) and that said amount was due on December 30, 2009 and remains unpaid. C4 WorldWide acknowledges its obligation to pay and agrees to pay the sum of \$20,000,000, plus all accumulated interest, to Cains no later than 90 days from February 25, 2010, less any advance payments made, and C4 WorldWide shall use all reasonable efforts to pay this obligation off in full as quickly as possible.

#### 5 A.App. 1119.

In other words, this subpart 1.1 merely repeated and confirmed the fact that C4 already owed, and still owed, the \$20,000,000 that was due on December 30, 2009, and which remained unpaid. Subpart 1.1 then contained an illusory promise in which C4 "agrees to pay" the \$20,000,000 debt that C4 already owed, but with an extended due date no later than 90 days from February 25, 2010, and with C4 agreeing to pay "this obligation" as quickly as possible. *Id*.

The next part of the Settlement Agreement dealt with the CMOs, which would be the security for the payment. Subpart 1.2 referred to "payment to the Cains of the \$20,000,000 (plus all accumulated interest), contemplated by this Agreement." 5 A.App. 1119. This subpart then stated that C4 would assign a 49 percent interest in the CMO account to the Cains. *Id.* Upon payment of the \$20,000,000 (plus interest) to the Cains, the parties agreed that the Cains would have no further ownership interest in the CMO account, and C4 would own 100 percent of the account. *Id.* 

The next section of the Settlement Agreement consisted of a "Release" provision. The first subpart read as follows:

2.1 The Cains, their successors, predecessors, parents, assigns, agents, employees, officers, directors, insurers, and all other affiliated persons, firms, or corporations, hereby fully and forever releases [sic] and discharges [sic] C4 WorldWide, from any and all claims that exist arising out of C4 worldwide's [sic] financial misfortunes and resultant inability to timely pay the promissory Note and Security Interest in the CMO Securities dated November 29, 2009 (a true and accurate copy which is attached hereto as Exhibit A and is incorporated herein by reference). Such release covers the Cains, their successors, predecessors, parents, assigns, agents, employees, officers, directors, insurers, and all other affiliated persons, firms, or corporations, [sic;

incomplete sentence] hereby fully and forever release and discharge C4 WorldWide, its successors, predecessors, parents, assigns, agents, employees, officers, directors, insurers, and all other affiliated persons, firms, or corporations, of and from any and all past, present, and future claims, demands, obligations, causes of action for damages of any kind, known and unknown, the basis for which now exists or may hereafter become manifest that are directly or indirectly related to the facts in any of the claims of any kind asserted against or which could have been asserted in any of the claims.

#### 5 A.App. 1120.

Although this release provision broadly referred to C4's officers and directors, without specifically identifying these people, the actual scope of the release was very narrow. It only released any claims that existed arising out of C4's "financial misfortunes and resultant inability to timely pay the Promissory Note [to the Cains]." *Id*.

In summary, the Settlement Agreement repeated and confirmed C4's obligation to pay \$20,000,000 to the Cains; it emphasized that this obligation would be fully satisfied not later than 90 days after February 25, 2010; it secured the obligation with a 49 percent interest in the CMO account; and it released C4 and its

officers and directors from claims arising out of C4's "financial misfortunes and resultant inability to timely pay." *Id*.

As the Cains discovered later, C4 and its principals never had any intention or even the ability to fulfill their obligation to the Cains, and to pay the consideration that the Settlement Agreement required. When the parties signed the Settlement Agreement, C4 did not have the money and did not have realistic prospects for obtaining the money; C4 had <u>already assigned</u> the 49 percent interest in the CMOs and the brokerage account to New Hope (which was the other victim of C4's fraud); and C4 had <u>already promised</u> New Hope the first returns from the CMOs. 5 A.App. 1040-41. In other words, C4 could not possibly perform as represented in the Settlement Agreement with the Cains at the time Rawson signed the Settlement Agreement, because C4 did not have the money and C4 had already given the security for the obligation (the CMOs) to someone else. Because C4 was unable to pay the consideration and comply with its obligations when the Settlement Agreement was signed, C4 subsequently defaulted on its obligation and then ////

transferred the CMOs beyond the Cains' reach, thereby completing the full impairment of the Cains' security interest.<sup>3</sup> 1 A.App. 142-43, 149, 153, 170.

#### Facts relating to the litigation

When C4 defaulted and failed to pay the Cains any money under the original JVA, and then defaulted and failed to pay any money under the Settlement Agreement, the Cains filed a complaint for breach of contract, fraud and civil conspiracy against C4, Rawson and four other principals in C4. 1 A.App. 1. The complaint alleged that, based upon inducement from the defendants, Heli Ops loaned C4 \$1,000,000 pursuant to the JVA; that no part of the loan obligation had been repaid; that Rawson and C4 acknowledged their liability in the Settlement Agreement; and that Rawson and C4 failed to pay their obligations under the Settlement Agreement. 1 A.App. 3-4. The complaint alleged breach of the Settlement Agreement by Rawson and C4; Rawson's fraud regarding the original loan; and civil conspiracy against all defendants, based upon their knowing participation in the fraudulent scheme to induce the Cains to loan funds in the first place, and then later to induce the Cains to defer taking legal action. 1 A.App. 4-6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> All of the individual defendants, including Price and Shackelford, were parties to communications with the Cains regarding C4's alleged efforts to pay Heli Ops and the Cains. 1 A.App. 169; 15-19. Further, the CMOs had been in a joint account, but Rawson convinced Jeffrey Cain to authorize Rawson to transfer the CMOs to a new account. 1 A.App. 169:24-170:2. Rawson then transferred the CMOs to a new account, from which he transferred them beyond the Cains' reach. 1 A.App. 170:3-24.

The defendants all moved to dismiss the complaint. 1 A.App. 13. The defendants contended that (1) the complaint did not state a legal claim against Rawson, individually, because he allegedly "executed the [Settlement Agreement] in his official capacity on behalf of the corporation," (even though his signature line does not so indicate; 5 A.App. 1122); (2) the Settlement Agreement constituted an accord and satisfaction regarding the original loan obligations; (3) allegations of fraud and conspiracy were not specific enough; and (4) Nevada courts had no personal jurisdiction over the individual defendants. 1 A.App. 16-21. The Cains opposed the motion to dismiss. 1 A.App. 24.

This case was originally assigned to former District Judge Michael Gibbons. In the first of what would become a series of orders largely ruling in favor of the Cains, Judge Gibbons denied the motion to dismiss. 1 A.App. 45. Regarding Rawson, the court found that the Cains "presented credible claims" regarding the 2009 and 2010 agreements, and allegations of the complaint were sufficient. 1 A.App. 47-48. Regarding the fraud claims, the court found that the allegations in the complaint were sufficient as to Rawson, but regarding the other individual defendants, the allegations of fraud and conspiracy were "less clear." 1 A.App. 49. Accordingly, the court denied the motion to dismiss, but required the Cains to amend their complaint regarding these five defendants. *Id.* 

The last part of the motion to dismiss was based upon lack of personal jurisdiction regarding the individual defendants. 1 A.App. 20-21. The individual defendants, including respondents Price and Shackelford, contended that they had insufficient contacts with Nevada. 1 A.App. 20. Judge Gibbons found that "it does not appear that the five defendants were parties to this [Settlement Agreement]," but that their involvement in the loan was unclear. 1 A.App. 51:15-17. The court found sufficient evidence of jurisdictional facts to prevail on a pretrial motion, and the court therefore denied the motion to dismiss on this ground. 1 A.App. 51-52. Nonetheless, the denial was without prejudice; the parties were allowed to commence discovery regarding personal jurisdiction; and the Cains were allowed to file an amended complaint on that issue. 1 A.App. 52.

After the Cains filed an amended complaint, all of the defendants again moved for dismissal or summary judgment. 1 A.App. 53. The motion first argued that Nevada courts had no personal jurisdiction over the individual defendants. 1 A.App. 61. This argument was based upon the contention that the individual defendants did not have sufficient minimum contacts with Nevada.<sup>4</sup> 1 A.App. 61-70.

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