**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA**

Electronically Filed  
Jan 05 2017 09:52 a.m.  
Elizabeth A. Brown  
Clerk of Supreme Court

PEGGY CAIN, AN INDIVIDUAL; JEFFREY  
CAIN, AN INDIVIDUAL; AND HELI OPS  
INTERNATIONAL, LLC, AN OREGON  
LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY,

Supreme Court Case No. 69333  
District Court Case No. CI 22918

Appellants,

Supreme Court Case No. 69889

vs.

Supreme Court Case No. 70864

RICHARD PRICE, AN INDIVIDUAL; AND  
MICKEY SHACKELFORD, AN  
INDIVIDUAL,

Respondents.

---

On Appeal from Judgment and Post-Judgment Orders  
in the Ninth Judicial District Court, Douglas County  
The Honorable Thomas W. Gregory Presiding

**RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF**

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

Rawson agreed to be liable not only to Heli Ops but to the Cains, who were not individually the beneficiaries of the JVA. Appellants propose no alternative interpretation of the JVA other than to argue that Heli Ops and the Cains are one and the same, apparently asking this Court to pierce the corporate veil by disregarding the Heli Ops entity. Further, Appellants falsely claim in their Opening Brief that the Cains paid the \$1,000,000 to C4, a sum that was not paid by the Cains or Heli Ops, but by another entity called Skydance Helicopters. *A.App. 1075.*

**2. The district court properly awarded attorneys' fees to Price and Shackelford.**

Price and Shackelford moved for attorneys' fees on three separate legal theories. First, they argued that the Settlement Agreement provided for an award of attorneys' fees to prevailing parties and demonstrated unequivocally that they were the prevailing parties in the litigation brought primarily based on the Settlement Agreement itself. Second, they asserted they were entitled to an award of attorneys' fees pursuant to NRCP 68 and NRS 17.115 because they both made offers of judgment to Plaintiffs which were unreasonably rejected. Third, they argued that the litigation was brought and maintained in bad faith by Plaintiffs because after four and a half years of litigation, no evidence had been presented of any wrongdoing by Price or Shackelford, and more particularly, no evidence had been presented and no argument made that the Settlement Agreement was not a valid and binding contract.

The district court decided the motion based on this latter claim, brought pursuant to NRS 18.010(2)(b).

The district court decided the motion based exclusively on NRS 18.010(2)(b), but this Court may affirm the award of attorneys' fees on any ground raised in the district court. *Sengel v. IGT*, 116 Nev. 565, 570, 2 P.3d 258, 261 (2000) (holding that a correct result will not be reversed simply because it is based on the wrong reason); *McDonald v. Alexander & Las Vegas Blvd.*, 121 Nev. 812, 123 P.3d 784 (2005). If this Court finds that the attorneys' fee award was not merited under NRS 18.010, it may uphold the award nonetheless based on the two other arguments presented to the district court.

An award of attorneys' fees is reviewed for a manifest abuse of discretion. *Kahn v. Morse & Mowbray*, 121 Nev. 464, 479, 117 P.3d 227, 238 (2005). This Court reviews a district court's factual determinations deferentially and will not overturn such findings if supported by substantial evidence, unless clearly erroneous. *Ogawa v. Ogawa*, 125 Nev. 660, 668, 221 P.3d 699, 704 (2009). Furthermore, an award will not be disturbed on appeal if the record demonstrates that the district court considered the factors set forth in *Beattie v. Thomas*, 99 Nev. 979, 668 P.2d 268 (1983), and the district court's award is not arbitrary or capricious. *Uniroyal Goodrich Tire Co. v. Mercer*, 111 Nev. 318, 890 P.2d 785 (1995). As it is required

to do, the district court here applied the factors set forth in *Brunzell v. Golden Gate Nat'l Bank*, 85 Nev. 345, 455 P.2d 31 (1969).

In their Opening Brief, Appellants mischaracterize the district court's order granting attorneys' fees. Appellants draw this Court's attention to two sentences to the exclusion of others in the order. Appellants quote the district court's statement that it did not "fault plaintiffs, who are not paid under either the JVA or the SA, for seeking legal recourse," (*A.App. 1451:1-2*), and its statement finding the "legitimacy of their dispute in general good faith." *A.App. 1451:3-4*. The Cains deliberately fail to direct this Court to portions of the district court's order that show the context of the above-quoted statements. The court pointed out that Plaintiffs "achieved success against many of the Defendants [which] demonstrates legitimacy of their dispute and general good faith." *A.App. 1451:1-4*. The court then noted that it was tasked with reviewing Plaintiffs' action as it related specifically to prevailing defendants Price and Shackelford, not those against whom the Cains were successful.

The district court stated as follows:

While plaintiffs pursuit of damages against C4 and Rawson under the SA was not surprising or unreasonable, the same cannot be said of plaintiffs' pursuit of Price and Shackelford under the SA.

*A.App. 1452:11-14*. The court found that it was unreasonable to pursue Price and Shackelford because the Cains knew from the inception of the litigation that they

had executed an agreement that released the officers and directors of C4 from liability. The court stated:

It is now clear to the Court that plaintiffs never intended to argue, as an alternative theory or otherwise, against the enforceability of the SA despite language in the TAC and prior versions of the Complaint, to the contrary and despite plaintiffs' pursuit of Price and Shackelford. Rather, plaintiffs always insisted that they should reap the benefits of the SA while being impervious to the required release of Price and Shackelford. Plaintiffs' position was unreasonable from the inception of the lawsuit through the granting of summary judgment.

In addition, the district court was aware, from Price and Shackelford's motion for attorneys' fees and from their submitted but undecided motion for summary judgment on the fraud and other claims, that Jeffrey Cain testified at his deposition that neither Price nor Shackelford made any false representation to him. There is no evidence in the record that Price or Shackelford knew of material facts regarding CMOs, C4 or the transactions that they failed to disclose to the Cains. The court also was aware that Cain testified he engaged his own advisors to perform the due diligence necessary for him to engage in the loan to C4. *R.App. 1; 54: 10-22; A.App. 1031: 26-28*. These facts also suggest that the Cains pursued the litigation knowing that crucial elements of several of their other claims were unprovable and knew it when the complaint was first filed. Yet, they pursued Price and Shackelford from the filing of the complaint through the ultimate grant of summary judgment in Price and Shackelford's favor, and even after obtaining default judgments against four other defendants based exclusively on the terms of the Settlement Agreement.

Under these circumstances, the district court's award of attorneys' fees was not a manifest abuse of its discretion, nor were its factual findings contained in the order clearly erroneous. The award should be upheld.

Even if this Court finds that the district court erred in awarding the fees under NRS 18.010, Price and Shackelford's other reasons for seeking attorneys' fees support the district court's order. As set forth in their motion for attorneys' fees, Price and Shackelford demonstrated that they had made valid offers of judgment to Plaintiffs. *A.App. 1330; 1334*. The offers were rejected, even though they were based on calculations of amounts Price and Shackelford were alleged to have received improperly when C4 distributed funds to its officers and directors after the Heli Ops loan was made and funded. The fees incurred by Price and Shackelford after the offers were substantial. In the period between the date the offers were made, April 30, 2015, Plaintiffs filed seven motions: two motions for sanctions pursuant to NRCP 11; a motion to strike not just some, but all the affirmative defenses asserted by Price and Shackelford; a motion to exclude the testimony of Price and Shackelford's expert witness; a motion for partial summary judgment against Price on the conversion claim; a motion to continue a hearing; and an ex parte motion to shorten time to respond to that motion (which was denied by the district court). None of the motions were granted. While Appellants repeatedly complained that they were burdened by repeated and unsuccessful motions throughout the litigation, those

complaints are laid waste by Plaintiffs' own litigation tactics. Many of Plaintiffs' motions were utterly without merit, yet caused Price and Shackelford to incur enormous additional and unnecessary legal fees. This conduct, well known to the district court and certainly supported its decision under NRS 18.010 as well as it supports the fees sought and entitled by NRCP 68 and NRS 17.115.

Finally, it is beyond dispute that Price and Shackelford prevailed in the district court. It is also not disputed that the Settlement Agreement is a binding contract, and it affords prevailing parties an entitlement to attorney's fees and costs. This Court may and should uphold the district court's award of fees on this basis, as well.

**3. The district court did not err in denying plaintiffs' motion to compel production of their tax returns.**

Appellants argue that their motion to compel production of Price and Shackelford's tax returns was adequately supported by the allegations of the Third Amended Complaint. The district court concluded otherwise and denied the motion.

First, it recognized that all three remaining defendants, Baker, Price and Shackelford, affirmed in their responses to the request for production that gave rise to the motion to compel that they did not receive W-2s or form 1099s from C4 for the tax years 2009 and 2010. The defendants denied possessing other documents sought by the Plaintiffs.

The district court also denied the motion to compel because tax returns are not to be had for “the mere asking.” *Hetter v. District Court*, 110 Nev. 513 (1994). The court held that before tax returns or personal financial records are discoverable on the issue of punitive damages, “the plaintiff must demonstrate some factual basis for its punitive damage claim.” In support of their motion to compel, the Cains identified factual allegations they claimed supported their punitive damages claim: the Cains transferred \$1,000,000 to C4 on November 30, 2009; the loan proceeds were to be deposited into a separate account and used to purchase CMOs; the loan proceeds were deposited into C4’s general account; in December 2009, the defendants diverted in excess of \$804,000 from the account; Price was a signatory on the account and spoke with Jeff Cain about the transfer before it was made; and Price and Baker were signatories on a Bank of America account.

The court correctly held that punitive damages were available only on the Plaintiffs’ noncontract claims, and otherwise only if the Cains established by clear and convincing evidence that Price and Shackelford were guilty of oppression, fraud or malice. *NRS 42.005(1)*. The court denied the motion to compel but did so *without prejudice*. The court gave Plaintiffs permission to renew the motion if they discovered new information demonstrating the existence of oppression, fraud or malice. Plaintiffs never renewed their motion, which stands as an admission that they did not have evidence of fraud against Price or Shackelford. The Cains offer

no authority for the proposition that a motion denied without prejudice to refile should be reversed on appeal when they never brought the motion as the court allowed.

**4. The district court did not abuse its discretion by deciding to decide the issues of personal jurisdiction and alter ego prior to seating a jury.**

Appellants argue that the district court abused its discretion by ordering a hearing at which it would decide the still-open issue of personal jurisdiction over the remaining defendants and also decide as a matter of law the claim that C4 was the alter ego of its officers and directors. The Cains admit that under *Awada v. Shuffle Master, Inc.*, 123 Nev. 613, 621, 173 P.3d 707, 712 (2007), the district court has the authority to bifurcate such issues. This Court must review the district court's actions for an abuse of discretion. In doing so, this Court may rely on *Awada*, which determined that the district court did not err in bifurcating consideration of the claims that were equitable and related breach of contract and contract based claims.

NRCPC 42(b) gives the district court discretion to separate "any claim, crossclaim, counterclaim, or third party claim" and to conduct a separate trial on those matters as long as it does not deprive the plaintiff of its constitutional right to trial by jury. The issues the district court decided to hear separately were issues to be determined by the court as a matter of law. NRS 78.747(3) provides that the question of whether a stockholder, director or officer acts as the alter ego of a

corporation must be determined by the court as a matter of law. In *Trump*, 694, the court held that if a plaintiff has presented a prima facie case of personal jurisdiction prior to trial in a nonevidentiary hearing, the defendant may still require the plaintiff to prove personal jurisdiction by a preponderance of the evidence at a pretrial evidentiary hearing rather than being forced to wait until trial to put the plaintiff to full proof. When a separate evidentiary hearing occurs, the plaintiff's evidence does not receive the same presumption of credibility as it does when only a prima facie case is required. *Id.*, citing *Boit v. Gar-Tec Products, Inc.*, 967 F.2d 671 (1st Cir. 1992). The *Trump* court also noted with approval that using the prima facie standard, if it means that personal jurisdiction is not finally resolved until trial, may be undesirable where the defendant will incur significant expense and burden of trial on the merits in a foreign forum that is unfair under the circumstances. *Id.*

*Trump* controls and the district court has the option to decide personal jurisdiction prior to trial.

Prior to Judge Gregory's order, the district court had not decided those issues. Contrary to Appellants' Opening Brief, Judge Gibbons never ruled on the issue of personal jurisdiction over Price or Shackelford, who reside in Texas and Oklahoma. Thus, it is not "amazing" that Judge Gregory granted the motion to bifurcate the personal jurisdiction issue based on an alleged claim that Judge Gibbons had

previously denied personal jurisdiction challenges based only on the prima facia standard.

Judge Gregory meticulously laid out the reasons for bifurcating the two issues from trial. He noted that the case was four years old. He noted that Baker, Price and Shackelford were being sued in their individual capacities only for their involvement as officers in a Nevada corporation and had few, if any, contacts with Nevada. He noted that when the court previously addressed the issue of personal jurisdiction, discovery was incomplete and that when the motion to bifurcate came to him on Baker's motion, discovery had been completed. Finally, he noted that both issues had the potential for being dispositive of the case. The court also determined that granting the motion to bifurcate would make the best use of judicial resources and benefit all parties, who would either not face a trial or potentially have the issues narrowed.

Appellants argue that the Cains would be prejudiced if the issues of personal jurisdiction and alter ego liability were tried "separately in two separate trials, with two separate finders of fact." Of course, the issues of alter ego liability and personal jurisdiction would have been decided by the court regardless, and there was no showing of prejudice in the district court.

The district court exercised its discretion appropriately in ordering these two issues be bifurcated, and this Court should not disturb its decision.

**5. The district court acted properly in quashing post-trial subpoenas and awarding sanctions for the conduct of counsel.**

On September 29, 2015, a month before this case was dismissed, the Cains obtained from the district court an order requiring the clerk to issue commissions for out-of-state depositions intended to obtain records from banks that once held C4 accounts.

After the case was dismissed, the matter was no longer pending in the district court and the court lacked jurisdiction to decide any issue bearing on the merits of the case because an appeal had been filed. The filing of an appeal deprives the court of jurisdiction to act in the matter being appealed. *Fishman v. Las Vegas Sun, Inc.*, 75 Nev. 13, 333 P.3d 988 (1959).

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